
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Health Scrutiny 
Panel 
14 January 2021 

 
Time 
 

1.30 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny 

Venue 
 

Via Microsoft Teams 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Phil Page (Lab) 
Vice-chair Cllr Paul Singh (Con) 
 

Labour   

Cllr Obaida Ahmed 
Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal 
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal 
Cllr Lynne Moran 
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE 
Cllr Wendy Thompson 
Tracy Creswell (Healthwatch) 
Rose Urkovskis (Healthwatch 
 

  

Quorum for this meeting is three voting members. 
 

Information for the Public 
 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team: 

Contact Martin Stevens 
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 550947 or martin.stevens@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Scrutiny Team, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/  

Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 555046 

 

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 2 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 

 
MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
1 Apologies  
 [To receive any apologies for absence].   

 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 [To receive any declarations of interest].   

 

3 Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 3 - 16) 
 [To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 19 November 2020 as a 

correct record]. 
 

4 Matters Arising  
 [To consider any matters arising from the minutes]. 

 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
5 CCGs Merger Update  
 [To receive a verbal update from the Chief Executive Officer of Black Country and 

West Birmingham CCGs - Mr Paul Maubach and the Managing Director of 
Wolverhampton CCG - Mr Paul Tulley on the CCGs merger].   
 

6 Update from Director of Public Health on Covid-19 Vaccinations and Testing in 
the City  

 [The Director of Public Health will give a verbal update on Covid-19 vaccinations and 
testing in the City of Wolverhampton].   
 

7 Mental Health Services and the Covid-19 Response (Pages 17 - 28) 
 [To receive a report on Mental Health Services and the Covid-19 response]   

  
 

8 Future Meetings  
 [The next confirmed meeting of the Health Scrutiny Panel is scheduled to take place 

on Wednesday, 24 March 2021].   
 



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Health Scrutiny Panel 
Minutes - 19 November 2020 

 

Attendance 
 

Members of the Health Scrutiny Panel 
 
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal 
Cllr Lynne Moran 
Cllr Phil Page (Chair) 
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE 
Cllr Paul Singh (Vice-Chair) 
Cllr Wendy Thompson 
Rose Urkovskis 
 

 
In Attendance 
Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (Cabinet Member for Public Health and Wellbeing) 

 
Witnesses  
Professor David Loughton CBE (Chief Executive of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust) 
Paul Tulley (Managing Director of Wolverhampton CCG) 
Tracy Harvey (Senior Commissioning Manager, Pharmacy, Optometry and Dental – NHS 
England and NHS Improvement – Midlands West) 
Nuala Woodman (Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning, Pharmacy, Optometry and 
Dental – NHS England and NHS Improvement - Midlands) 
Anna Lee-Hunt (Consultant in Dental Public Health – Public Health England) 

 

 
Employees 
Martin Stevens (Scrutiny Officer) (Minutes) 
Emma Bennett (Director of Children’s and Adult Services) 
John Denley (Director of Public Health) 
Becky Wilkinson (Head of Adult Improvement) 
James Barlow (Finance Business Partner) 
Julia Cleary (Scrutiny and Systems Manager) 
Earl Piggott-Smith (Scrutiny Officer) 
Madeleine Freewood (Development Manager) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 

Item No. Title 

 
1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal and Tracy 
Cresswell. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Vanessa Whatley, Deputy Chief Nurse at the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust and 
Marsha Foster, Director of Partnerships at the Black Country Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust also sent their apologies to the meeting. 
 

2 Declarations of Interest 
There were no declarations  of interest.   
 

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2020 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record, subject to the reduction in the CCG Management Costs target figure for the 
current year reading 20% rather than 25%.   
 

4 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2020 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2020 were approved as a correct 
record.   
 

5 Matters Arising 
Cllr Lynne Moran asked for it to be put on the official record, the Haven Refuge 
Centre being particularly grateful for the time invested by Public Health to help the 
refuge to operate safely throughout the Covid-19 pandemic.  She also wished for her 
personal appreciation to Public Health, in helping the Third Sector to be written into 
the official record.   
 

6 Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-2022 to 2023-2024 
The Finance Business Partner introduced the report on the draft Budget and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2021-2022 to 2023-2024.  Appended to the report to the 
Scrutiny Panel was the Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-
2022 to 2023-2024, this had been received by Cabinet in the previous week.  They 
were seeking feedback on how the budget relevant to the remit of the Panel aligned 
with the priorities of the Council.  The report recommended that the response from 
the Panel to Scrutiny Board be finalised by the Chair and Vice Chair of the Health 
Scrutiny Panel.  Scrutiny Board would then submit a final response to Cabinet. 
 
The Finance Business Partner stated that there was a legal requirement for the 
Council to set a balanced budget each year.  This had last been done when Council 
approved a balanced budget for 2020-2021 on 4 March 2020.  At that time, it had 
been projected that the Council would be faced with finding further estimated budget 
reductions totalling £15.5 million in 2021-2022, rising to around £20 million over the 
medium term to 2023-2024.  Work had been ongoing to close the budget gap since 
March with budget reductions or income generation ideas.  However, Covid-19 had 
become much more of an issue than at that point, meaning there had been 
significant financial implications on both the finances and operating environment of 
the Council. 
 
The Finance Business Partner referred to section 6 in the main report which 
summarised the Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy report.  The 
report included details about the financial implications of Covid-19 and it agreed the 
core principles of how the Council would deal with any budget pressures going 
forward.  The Council had a proven record of financial planning, being able to set a 
balanced budget and responding to any shortfalls in future budgets.  The report 
included a table showing the one off grants the Council had received from 
Government for responding to the short-term financial pressures of Covid-19.  The 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

table showed a shortfall of about £324,000 between the grants the Council had 
received and the financial cost pressures that were being forecast.  This did not 
include any costs of a second lockdown or the “Relighting Our City Programme.”  
Grants were changing on a weekly basis and so the financial situation was constantly 
evolving. 
 
The Finance Business Partner stated that the main assumption for setting next year’s 
budget was that in response to previous Government announcements, the Council 
assumed the Government would fund any financial pressures relating to Covid-19 in 
full.  If this was the case, they were forecasting a gap to set a balanced budget next 
year of approximately £4.5 million.  This was achievable and Directors had been 
given targets to work out budget reduction measures to try and close the gap.  If the 
costs relating to Covid-19 were not met by the Government, the financial pressure 
could rise up to £23.2 million for next year.  This would have a significant impact and 
would result in a fundamental review of all services in the Council. 
 
The Finance Business Partner stated that section 4 of the report contained details 
about the Health budget relevant to the remit of the Panel.  The Health budget came 
almost entirely from a ring fenced £21 million Public Health grant.  In addition, the 
Council had been allocated a Test and Trace grant of £1.9 million relating to Covid-
19.  Part of the conditions of the Public Health grant were to deliver mandated Public 
Health Services that included the Healthy Chid Programme, Sexual Health open 
access and NHS Health Checks.  The grant was also used to commission substance 
misuse services and a range of health protection services.  The conditions of the 
Public Health Grant also included the offer of expertise, support and advice to local 
NHS partners.   
 
The Director for Public Health commented that it had been a difficult time delivering 
consistent strategies in the context of a global pandemic.  The revenue budgets 
allocated enabled an approach to improve the health and wellbeing of the population 
that was outlined in the Public Health Vision 2030, which had been discussed at the 
Scrutiny Panel previously.  How the money that had been allocated from the Test 
and Trace Grant was being spent and their general approach to the pandemic could 
be found in the Local Outbreak Control Plan.   
 
The Director for Public Health referred to some notable successes in the past year.  
He was particularly pleased with the establishment of the Covid-19 test centres in the 
City.  Wolverhampton had been the first to have a drive through Covid-19 testing 
centre and community swabbing service in the West Midlands.  They had had the 
first walk in centre which provided a blue print for the Government.  The Lateral Flow 
test pilot had just commenced.  They had been investing in already established 
partnerships such as businesses and faith settings to help prevent the spread of the 
Covid-19 virus.  Partnership working with RWT (the Royal Wolverhampton NHS 
Trust) and the CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) had been critical.  They had 
invested in partnership which had seen improvements in the Healthy Child 
Programme.  There had also been some improvements in sexual health services.  
The pandemic had also increased infection control measures in Care Homes.  Public 
Health had a good partnership with RWT for reducing smoking, the Trust had been 
smoke free from 1 October 2020.  They were also looking at their place based 
approach, to see which areas of the City they could target and increase their efforts 
to improve health outcomes.   
 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

The Director for Public Health referred Members to three key documents for more 
information on their strategic approach these were the Council Plan, the Local 
Outbreak Control Plan and the Public Health Annual report.   
 
A Member of the Panel congratulated the Director for Public Health and his team for 
their outstanding work in relation to their response to Covid-19.  She had confidence 
in the future.  Another area she wished to highlight was the excellent partnership 
working which had taken place, which had set a very high standard.  She highlighted 
the place based approach and the work that had taken place in the St. Peter’s Ward, 
which would undoubtedly make a difference to the lives of residents.  She had a 
concern about substance misuse during the pandemic and particularly alcohol 
dependent persons.  After attending a briefing with a member of the Public Health 
Team, she was concerned that the availability of hospital detox and rehabilitation 
was less than a decade earlier.  She was mindful that only a few problem drinkers 
could cause problems for a great deal many of other people in their social network.  
She thought an investment in this area would be worthwhile to prevent further 
problems in the future.   Members of the Panel endorsed the Councillor’s view on the 
outstanding work completed by Public Health during the Covid-19 pandemic.   
 
The Director of Public Health responded that he was pleased that drug related 
deaths had decreased compared to the previous year.  In areas outside of 
Wolverhampton it had mostly increased.  He was however concerned about the 
increased burden in relation to alcohol related illness and the costs in relation to 
alcohol treatment.   They would therefore be looking as soon as possible at 
refreshing their alcohol strategy to see what they could do collectively to help tackle 
the problem, with prevention being key.    
 
A Member of the Panel asked if the Public Health Grant was ring fenced.  He also 
expected the Government to fund the financial pressures the Council was facing as a 
consequence of Covid-19.  He asked why there was a deficit. 
 
The Finance Business Partner confirmed that the Public Health Grant was ring 
fenced, so it could only be spent on Public Health expenditure within the terms of the 
grant.  There was a deficit because the overall expenditure forecast exceeded the 
income.  Costs did increase year on year which had to be included in the financial 
assumptions.  He cited the example of a fee uplift to providers of adult social care to 
sustain the market and salary increases.  This was why they were trying to identify 
budget reductions across the Council to help bridge the projected budget deficit gap.  
Inflation, service pressures, such as a demand in adult social care and a reduction in 
the income received from areas such as business rates and Council tax were also 
factors to take into account.   
 
A Panel Member commented that the Government had awarded £45.2 million in 
business grants and £28.3 million in business rates relief, in addition to other grants 
as outlined in the report.  She understood that there would be a financial statement in 
Parliament the following week which would help reveal additional grant funding.  She 
was in support of the Public Health grant being ring fenced.   
 
 
Resolved: That the Scrutiny response be finalised by the Chair and Vice-Chair of the 
Scrutiny Panel and forwarded to Scrutiny Board for consideration. 
 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
7 Dentistry during Covid-19 

The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning from NHS England and NHS 
Improvement and the Consultant in Dental Public Health from Public Health England 
gave a presentation on Dentistry during Covid-19.  A briefing report had also been 
circulated with the agenda.  The briefing note had contained a summary of pre-Covid 
Dental Services including maps.  Detailed information on Dental fees had been 
provided in the note.  NHS Dental fees had not changed due to Covid.  Some private 
Dentists had increased their charges.  You did not need to be registered with a 
Dentist like you did with a GP.  In theory patients were able to attend any Dentist, it 
was however true that many Dentists did maintain a list of regular patients.  Patients 
were able to find details of Dental practices on the NHS website, 
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/find-a-Dentist 
 
A range of specialist care was available through Hospital or Community Dental 
Services on referral.  In the Wolverhampton area this was provided by the Royal 
Wolverhampton NHS Trust.   
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning stated that services, due to the 
pandemic, at present were severely constrained due to limited capacity.  This was 
because of the nature of the work of Dentistry, the need for social distancing and 
infection control and downtime required between treatments, to change the air.  
Certain Dentistry procedures were aerosol generating, such as when using drills.  It 
was now normal to have remote telephone triage prior to or instead of being seen 
face to face.  During Covid-19 there was currently no walk-in services available.  
Dentists had been told to prioritise urgent care and vulnerable patients rather than 
routine check-ups.  Some patients were required to be seen at other centres due to 
Covid-19.  There were some established urgent Dental centres, which could also be 
used for people in the vulnerable category.  They were aware that obtaining care was 
difficult at present for those without a usual Dentist, but urgent care could be 
accessed via NHS 111.  They were looking to try and improve this pathway as it was 
often the most vulnerable patients in this position.   
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning remarked that local Dentists and 
services were working together to try and maintain and recover services.  Guidance 
and support were being provided to Dentists and other services to help them adapt 
the way they worked.  It was however a reality that patients were having to wait 
longer for the care they needed both at a high street or in a Hospital service and the 
range of options for treatment may have been more limited than was previously the 
case.  
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning commented that since the report 
had been published with the agenda for the meeting, the team had contacted six 
practices previously identified as not providing a full range of services including 
aerosol generated procedures and had established that all of these were now 
offering these procedures and had been since September / early October.  She 
provided the local information on levels of patients exempt from Dental charges as 
follows:- 
 
Paying Adult Wolverhampton – 67.55%, Midlands – 77.30%, England -77.36% 
 
Non-Paying Adult Wolverhampton – 32.45%, Midlands – 22.70%, England – 22.64%     

Page 7

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/find-a-Dentist


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Panel had submitted a number of advanced 
questions following receipt of the report.  The Deputy Head of Primary Care 
Commissioning presented the answers on slides to the meeting.   
 
The first question was as follows, “The report states that people need to be honest 
about their Covid-19 status when seeking treatment.  Do you have any evidence to 
date that people are not being honest when seeking treatment?” 
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning responded that they had received 
general anecdotal reports in the Midlands from Community Dental Services of 
children attending appointments who were off school due to cases of Covid-19 in 
their year group.  They had also received reports from Dental practices regarding 
patients who had answered negative to Covid-19 screening questions but were later 
identified at the practice as being symptomatic or isolating.  Patients who had 
symptoms could be seen, but at a location that was separate (either in time or place) 
to other non symptomatic or isolating patients.  This was to protect other patients 
who were also attending the practice.  Patients who were symptomatic or isolating 
would be turned away and asked to attend elsewhere.  The practice would also be 
forced to close temporarily for deep cleaning and staff testing.  This would further 
restrict care and other patients would have appointments cancelled.  There had been 
little demand at the hot sites, for people with Covid-19.   
 
The second advance question which had been submitted was, “We are concerned 
about the sustainability of the Dental labs.  Can you give us the very latest 
information on what is being done to try and help them survive and is there anything 
the Health Scrutiny Panel can do to help?” 
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning responded that this was a 
perceptive question.  They had provided some information in the report on 
recommendations from a review nationally which identified a risk to Dental labs.  She 
had asked for an update from the Deputy Chief Dental Officer, but he had not yet 
responded.  The levels of face to face activity for routine care remained low including 
for work such as dentures and therefore the situation was unlikely to have improved 
significantly in terms of the volume of work available to Dental labs.  The Dentals 
labs were entirely private and were used by the Dental practices.  They were 
therefore an important part of the Dentistry system.  She suggested that Members 
could work to raise awareness of the issue to ensure that work continued centrally to 
support vulnerable sectors and ensure sustainability of key support industries.   
 
The Consultant in Dental Public Health from Public Health England remarked that the 
Dental labs were an important part of the system.  She was very concerned about 
the sector because they would be vital in the future.   
 
The third advanced question which had been submitted was as follows, “The report 
refers to you reviewing the position of hot sites, which are for people with symptoms 
or isolating patients.  Do you think there will be additional sites in Wolverhampton 
and when will these be opened?”   
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning responded that there was not 
currently sufficient demand to justify earmarking a specific site as this would 
necessarily mean that other services at the site would have to be stopped.  They 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

were scoping a Black Country hot site that could be mobilised if necessary, at short 
notice.  The location options were limited due to issues with suitable premises for 
aerosol generated procedures and with access due to co-location with other 
services.  There were longer term plans to seek expressions of interest for weekend 
Dental slots at local practices and they anticipated some end of sessions slots being 
reserved for patients with symptoms of Covid-19 or patients isolating, if the demand 
increased.   
 
The fourth advanced question which had been submitted was, “How can partners 
work together to improve the oral health of very young children?”     
 
The Consultant in Dental Public Health from Public Health England commented that 
she was thankful for the opportunity to talk to the Local Authority about oral health 
and for the interest that the Scrutiny Panel had taken.  She spoke about the “Little 
Trip to the Dentist Campaign (#ALTTTD).”  The main focus of the campaign had 
been on communications to raise awareness with parents and carers of young 
children of the need to take children to the Dentist and also the key oral health 
messages for the age group.  It had run between 2017 and 2020.  All the key 
messages from the campaign remained applicable and could be accessed at the 
webpage link:- 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/midlands/2019/06/20/campaign-a-little-trip-to-the-dentist/ 
 
She wanted the messages from the campaign to continue to be reinforced into the 
future.  She also felt there was a real opportunity with the introduction of Integrated 
Care Systems and Primary Care Networks, that they could take a lead on improving 
the oral health of very young children.  They would be able to influence GPs, their 
practice staff and pharmacists.  She also believed there was an opportunity to 
develop a local Wolverhampton campaign or even at Town level such as Bilston.  
Such a campaign would try and influence the local population, with a particular focus 
on targeting groups locally with the greatest health needs.  Local knowledge could be 
used to best influence the most in need groups.  They knew that the more targeted 
the message and the approach, the more successful it would be in encouraging 
behavioural change in individuals.  Co-production of information was key with simple 
key messaging.  She was happy to work with the Council and health partners to help 
develop such a local campaign.  She also felt it important that more voluntary groups 
help share the oral health messages.  She hoped the resources available on the 
NHS website would be freely shared with them.   
 
The fifth advanced question which had been submitted was, “The A Little Trip to the 
Dentist Campaign refers to identifying influencers.  Who were the type of influencers 
identified in Wolverhampton?” 
 
The Consultant in Dental Public Health from Public Health England responded that 
very young children did not make their own decisions, their carers or families did this 
for them.  It was therefore important to influence this category of people.  She 
displayed a slide listing the key influences but cited some of the main one’s as being 
midwives, the antenatal visitors, early years practitioners and children’s centres.  
When devising the campaign, they had also looked at the Influencers of Influencers 
such as Oral health promoters and teams, local Public Health teams and NHS 
England.  They had ensured they were able to relay information.   
 

Page 9

https://www.england.nhs.uk/midlands/2019/06/20/campaign-a-little-trip-to-the-dentist/


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

The sixth advanced question which had been submitted was as follows, “The report 
highlights that at the time of writing the report, 42 patients had been waiting over 52 
weeks and 2042 waiting over 18 weeks for surgery at RWT.  Can we ask RWT to 
comment on these statistics and their plans for the future in relation to oral surgery?”   
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning stated that the most recent data 
for the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust for September showed the position had 
improved slightly from figures quoted previously in the report, with 42% being seen 
within 18 weeks and 1718 waiting longer (a reduction of 324) however there were 70 
patients waiting more than 52 weeks (an increase of 28).  The number of patients 
waiting more than 52 weeks had increased across all Trusts, it was not localised to 
Wolverhampton.  Trusts had been asked to prioritise care needs, which meant some 
people were waiting longer than others.  The total waiting list had increased slightly 
by 65 patients.  The position for 18 weeks was improving, with referrals being lower 
than normal, although recovering.  Trusts continued to provide urgent care based on 
prioritisation.  There were concerns that the second wave would further restrict 
elective care due to staffing pressures.   
 
The Chief Executive Officer of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust commented that 
they were doing better than many Trusts in the West Midlands at the present time.  
Nationally there was now over 142,000 people who had waited more than 52 weeks 
for surgery.  His priority focus was on cardiac surgery and cancer services.  
 
The final advanced question which had been submitted was, “Do you think Covid-19 
has changed the future course of Dentistry Services permanently.  For example the 
increased use of Digital in service provision and more of a focus on required care 
rather than routine appointments?”   
 
The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning responded that she hoped that it 
had changed the future course of Dentistry Services.  There had been a number of 
positive areas which had occurred as a consequence of the pandemic.  She thought 
it was a positive move that there would be more of a focus on personalised recall 
schedules and those with greatest need.  Not everyone needed to be seen every six 
months.  It was important to prioritise care for those that needed it most in a targeted 
manner.  The second example of positive change was in the use of digital technology 
such as virtual consultations, advice and guidance and sharing photographs.  This 
had now become an accepted part of care and could improve the efficiency of 
services. Covid-19 had accelerated the progression in the use of digital in services, 
which had been part of the improving services agenda but had not been occurring at 
a rapid pace, which Covid-19 had forced.  The pandemic had further strengthened 
existing collaborative working through local networks including Local Dental 
Committees and Managed Clinical Networks.  These collaborations were an 
important part of the Commissioning system.  There was now a better holistic 
approach and innovation had improved.  
 
A Member of the Panel complimented the representatives from NHS England & 
Improvement and Public Health England on their report and presentation to the 
Panel.  He agreed that Dentistry Services needed to take a more targeted approach 
based on needs.  He spoke positively about the Dentistry Services the NHS provided 
and commented that the fees charged did not represent the actual costs, which were 
much higher.  He thought prevention was key which would help reduce overall costs 
for Dental work.  He asked for their thoughts on returning to School Dentists.   

Page 10



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
The Consultant in Dental Public Health from Public Health England commented that 
prevention was key.  The “A Little Trip to the Dentist Campaign”, had tried to succeed 
in getting children and their families used to going to the Dentist from a very early 
age, with the right recall schedule based on need.  The best place to receive 
treatment was in a clinical setting.  In the past mobile services may have been used, 
which was still an option in some areas.  The best and safest place to receive Dental 
treatment though was within a Dental Clinic.  They still did some work with schools 
which included providing advice.  Wolverhampton still had water fluoridisation, which 
was key to prevention.  Dental Practices in Wolverhampton were able to put on 
fluoride varnish 2-4 times per year for any child aged 3-16, which helped to prevent 
tooth decay.  There were services available to children that needed a general 
anaesthetic which were linked to the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust and the 
Community Dentist Service.  There was therefore an established system to try and 
capture the children and bring them within the system so they could receive 
treatment and also to help prevent tooth decay from starting in the first place. 
 
The Member of the Panel in response asked whether a specialist children’s Dentist in 
each Town would be of benefit.   The Deputy Head of Primary Care Commissioning 
responded that specialists were in short supply.  There were some talented 
individuals that worked in the Community Dental Service who provided specialist 
support for paediatric Dentistry.  They had recently conducted a review of 
Community Dental Services across the region and they were completing work to 
redesign the service.  One of the big issues was regarding sustainability and 
workforce.  She thought there was not enough specialists being trained, with many 
ending up working in Dental Schools and Children’s Hospitals.  One of the 
challenges was to make sure Community Dental Services had access to specialist 
Dentists.  It was important that specialists were used to their maximum potential and 
efficiency to help the children which required specialist care.  Many children would 
never require access to specialists.   Investment in prevention was important, which 
was why there had been such a focus on the “A Little Trip to the Dentist Campaign.”  
By the time a child had reached school age, habits had already formed, so early 
intervention was key to establish routines.  Some children already had significant 
Dentistry problems before they even reached school.  The Consultant in Dental 
Public Health from Public Health England added that her view was all Dental 
practices should be child friendly.   
 
The Chair thanked the representatives from NHS England & Improvement and Public 
Health England for an excellent presentation and report.  The Scrutiny Officer also 
paid his complements to the representatives, who had provided the Panel with all the 
information requested in advance of the meeting.    
 

Resolved Unanimously: That Health Partners give consideration to developing a 
local Wolverhampton campaign to raise awareness with parents and carers of young 
children of the need to take children to the Dentist and the key oral health messages 
for this age group.  Clearly it would need to launch at an appropriate time because of 
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.  
 

8 Update from Director of Public Health - Covid-19 
The Director for Public Health gave an update on Covid-19 in the City.  The weekly 
case rate per 100,000 in the West Midlands was currently at 319.2.  In 
Wolverhampton it was at 330.0.  He expected that figure to rise to somewhere 

Page 11



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

between 360.0 to 365.0 the following day.  He showed a graph showing the rise in 
cases from the 30 August 2020 across England, the Black Country and 
Wolverhampton.  Towards September and October 2020 there was a significant rise 
in the curve in Wolverhampton.  The dip on the graph from 13 November 2020 could 
probably be explained by the lag in lab results coming through.  The case rate in 
Wolverhampton had not accelerated at the rate of its Black Country neighbours, it 
was doing comparably better, although cases per 100,000 still remained high and it 
was still accelerating.  Wolverhampton’s case rate was higher than the average for 
the Country.  The average for England for the 7 days up to 16 November was 
approximately 250 Covid-19 cases per 100,000.  Dudley and Sandwell had the 
highest rates in the Black Country.   
 
The Director for Public Health presented a slide on Covid-19 case rates by ward area 
in Wolverhampton in the 14 days up to 16 November 2020.  The key point from the 
slide was that if there was a ward which was showing a low number of Covid-19 
cases, this didn’t mean the infection wasn’t within the ward area.  It was often a sign 
that more testing was required.  As an example, Heath Town ward had been showing 
a low rate a few weeks ago.  When targeted testing was undertaken, a higher 
amount of cases was found within the ward area.  The Covid-19 infection had spread 
across the City, it was not contained to any particular wards.  It was key to 
encourage people to undertake a PCR test if they had symptoms and when they did 
not have symptoms they could receive a lateral flow test at one of the pilot areas. 
 
The Director for Public Health displayed a heat map showing the Covid-19 age 
specific confirmed case rate per 100,000 in Wolverhampton in the 7 days up to 12 
November 2020.  Where there was a darker shade it indicated a higher rate for each 
of the five different age groups differentiated.  The 60 plus age group was starting to 
show a darker bracket, which was the group which needed to be the most protected.  
This was because this age group were more likely to have to receive hospital 
treatment and to have poorer outcomes if they caught the virus.  Protecting the most 
vulnerable was key.   
 
The Director for Public Health presented a slide on responding to the second wave.  
The fact that the vaccine was in development was positive news but it was important 
that this did not distract from the immediate issues of the importance of compliance 
with guidance, testing, contract tracing and ensuring systems were in place as a 
bridging strategy before a vaccine was rolled out.  There were now six PCR testing 
sites within the City, which had increased the testing capacity within the City.  The 
testing rate was very good at 2,700 per 100,000 people.  This equated to 
approximately 1000 tests each day within the City.  A new test site in Wednesfield at 
the Community Hall (Gurdwara) was now open.  A testing site at Whitmore Reams 
Library would be opening on the present day.  Lateral Flow Testing had also been 
introduced, with a site on Sedgley Street at the Gurdwara opening for a pilot between 
the 19 November to 30 November.  In addition, there were a number of other 
possible pilots being planned.  Lateral Flow Testing was a tool to enable identification 
of people with Covid-19 that were asymptomatic and therefore to be able to reduce 
the spread of virus by informing the individual to self-isolate if they tested positive.  
 
The Director for Public Health spoke on the matter of contract tracing.  A local 
enhanced contract tracing offer complimented the national system.  This meant that 
91% of positive cases were being picked up and support offered.  Key messages 
were also able to be relayed to the person.  

Page 12



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
The Director for Public Health stated that over 1,300 business had been issued 
Covid compliant stickers. This indicated they had completed a risk assessment with 
the Council and were “Covid compliant.”  The stickers gave consumers more 
confidence.  They were recruiting an additional 8 Covid support workers which would 
bring the total number to 20.  Their role was to bolster compliance with the public and 
businesses in the City, which was a vital part in managing the spread of the virus. 
 
The Director for Public Health commented that the Government had replaced the 
Shielding Scheme with writing letters to vulnerable people communicating the latest 
advice and guidance.  The Council had worked with the CCG in writing to 9,000 
extremely clinically vulnerable people and offered support.      
 
The Scrutiny Officer asked the Director for Public Health how he thought the infection 
was being driven in the City.  The Director responded that the situation had changed 
considerably over the last two months.  When they had been entering Tier 2 it had 
been clear that it was spreading within households and between households.  At that 
point there weren’t any significant issues in workplaces, educational settings, 
Hospitals or Care Homes.  It then became clear that the community infection was 
spreading amongst younger working age people and then all working aged people in 
the age group 19-59.  From there it had gone forward.  There were now some 
significant outbreaks in a number of the City’s Care Homes, but they were confident 
they had a grip on the situation.  The place with the greatest number of outbreaks at 
the present time was within workplaces.  It wasn’t that there wasn’t good guidance in 
the workplaces, the virus was spreading due to human behaviour, such as a person 
letting their guard down during their lunch hour in a communal area.  The same 
principles applied in faith settings, such as entering, exiting, mingling afterwards and 
the travel to and from the venue.    
 
A Panel Member commented that she had received a letter from the National 
Education Union expressing a concern about workplaces in education settings.  The 
Director for Public Health responded that when there were the first infections at the 
beginning of the school term in September there had been about 18 infections and 
2000 children off school.  The Director for Children’s Services had led an Incident 
Management Team (IMT) for the City to see how they could work with schools to 
keep them secure but to also allow school children to attend wherever possible.  As a 
consequence of this effective work more children had been able to attend school and 
there were very few actual Covid-19 outbreaks.  
 
The Chief Executive of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust commented that it was 
very important that New Cross Hospital was not overrun.  The situation was different 
to March and April earlier in the year, he now also had to carry on with other 
treatments instead of cancelling them.  At present there were 16 Covid-19 patients in 
the Intensive Care Unit (ITU).  There had been a total of 326 deaths at the Trust 
relating to Covid-19.  This was a mortality rate of 24% of people who were being 
treated for Covid-19 at the Trust.  It was an awful disease; it was therefore important 
to stop people having to be admitted to Hospital wherever they could.  At the 
weekend the Trust had taken 3 ITU patients from Stoke.  He had not come across a 
disease with the same mortality rate as Covid-19 in his time.  The next 6-8 weeks 
would be crucial.  The average length of stay for someone in an ITU bed with Covid-
19 was two weeks plus.   
 

Page 13



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

The Chairman paid tribute to the Director of Public Health for his work during the 
Covid-19 pandemic.     
 

9 Local Outbreak Engagement Board Draft Minutes 
The Scrutiny Officer reported that the minutes from the September meeting of the 
Local Outbreak Engagement Board had been circulated with the agenda.  The 
minutes from the 12 November 2020, Local Outbreak Engagement Board had 
unfortunately not been approved in time for the meeting.  Members of the Panel had 
however been sent a link to the recording of the November meeting. 
 
The Chairman referred to the Communications Toolkit to Councillors and Community 
Champions recently mentioned at the Local Outbreak Engagement Board meetings.  
He asked for some more information on the initiative and asked who the Community 
Champions were.  The Development Manager gave some context to the Local 
Outbreak Engagement Board.  The Government had required the establishment of 
Local Outbreak Engagement Boards as part of the Local Outbreak Plan development 
work.  Wolverhampton’s Local Outbreak Engagement Board was Chaired by the 
Leader of the Council and was a Sub-Board of the Health and Wellbeing Together 
Board.  The public meetings were currently taking place every two months, with the 
option for additional meetings as appropriate.  The meetings were live streamed.  
The purpose of the Board was to have oversight of plans and actions to prevent and 
manage Covid-19 outbreaks in the City, as well as providing leadership around 
communications and public engagement.   
 
The Development Manager commented that three Councillors had put themselves 
forward as Champions.  These were Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur, Cllr Zee Russell and Cllr 
Simon Bennett.  They had been working with these Councillors on what resources 
they felt would be beneficial to Councillors.  In development was a key numbers / key 
messaging document which would be able to be shared with colleagues.  They were 
also looking at the role of social media and how Councillors could create videos to 
spread the key messages wide in the community.  They were also looking at how 
they could work with the community and voluntary groups.  They had been working in 
partnership with the Learning Communities Partnership which had a wide 
membership.  The Learning Communities Partnership had established a Task and 
Finish group which were considering which resources would be beneficial to the 
community.  The toolkit was an ongoing process, messages changed and so a clear 
network which was dynamic was important.     
 
A Member of the Panel commented that in his view he thought key messages 
needed to be delivered from one body rather than multiple champions.  He 
suggested the Cabinet Member or Director needed to take the lead in relaying 
messages rather than individuals as he was concerned the messages could be 
diluted and cause confusion.       
 
The Chair asked the following question, “A recent BBC Article - identified that people 
with learning disabilities were up to six times more likely to die from Covid-19 during 
the first wave of the pandemic.  A report from Public Health England found the death 
rate for those with a learning disability was 30 times higher in the 18-34 age group.  
What action is Wolverhampton taking as a health and care system to help safeguard 
this vulnerable group within the City and will the Local Outbreak Engagement Board 
be able to have some oversight of this moving forward within Wolverhampton?” 
 

Page 14



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

The Director for Public Health responded that they looked at any vulnerable group 
within the City and protecting them was at the core of what they did in Public Health.  
The BBC Article had referred to people with learning disabilities being up to six times 
more likely to die from Covid-19, he thought it important to address the difference 
between absolute and relative.  It was an issue, but the strategy had targeted the 
vulnerable groups and used key networks to relay messages.  They could monitor 
the situation as requested by bringing it through the Local Outbreak Engagement 
Board.  Evidence focussed on the most at risk was the key point.  Keeping 
vulnerable groups safe until the vaccine had been rolled out and cases had declined 
was critical.   
 
The Vice-Chair asked if there was any data on people who were aged over 65, 
obese and possibly had a learning disability.  The Director for Public Health 
responded that there was a range of data.  Working with partners, the various 
intelligence teams had access to a tapestry of information, which allowed the 
targeting of particular groups.  He could provide a detailed analysis from an 
epidemiological point of view in the future.                
 
The Vice-Chair asked at what point did a Care Home become closed to new 
admissions due to a Covid-19 incident.  The Head of Adult Improvement gave a 
summary of the latest Covid-19 testing taking place in Care Homes.  If a Care Home 
had one positive case, it was placed onto a Watch List and the Infection Prevention 
Team were sent into the Care Home to complete an audit.  They were particularly 
focussing on clusters to see if there was any transmission between staff and 
residents.  If there were two or more cases the Care Home was closed for a period of 
up to 28 days.  They were however looking at each Care Home on a case by case 
basis and acting based on the circumstances.    
 
The Vice-Chair asked for the detail of any plans for the rollout of any Covid-19 
vaccine within the City.  The Director for Public Health responded that the CCG were 
leading on the vaccine rollout with the help of Public Health.  It would likely be a 
mixed model with larger sites complimented by GP surgeries.  He would happily 
provide an update at the next meeting.   
 
The Managing Director of Wolverhampton CCG stated that the CCG were working 
with Primary Care Colleagues to identify sites where they would be able to deliver 
the vaccine when it was ready.  The National Joint Vaccine Committee had identified 
the priority groups that would receive the vaccine.  They had not received 
confirmation of the timing of when a vaccine would be available, but they were 
making preparations in readiness for when it could be delivered.  
 
A Member of the Panel referred to one of the vaccines having to be kept at minus 70 
degrees centigrade.  He asked if all sites would have the appropriate storage.  The 
Managing Director of the CCG commented that whilst one of the vaccines did have 
to be kept at a very low temperature, once the vaccine had been delivered to the 
administering site there were a number of days when it needed to be used by, if it 
was not at minus 70.  Therefore, all the administering sites did not require the special 
freezers, as long as the vaccine was administered within a set timeframe. 
 
The Scrutiny Officer commented that the Vice-Chair would be visiting the first lateral 
flow testing site in the City the following day and had offered to report back to the 
Health Scrutiny Panel at the next meeting if requested.         

Page 15



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Minutes 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

10 Future Meetings 
The future confirmed meeting dates of the Health Scrutiny Panel were confirmed as 
follows:- 
 
14 January 2021 at 1:30pm 
 
24 March 2021 at 1:30pm 
 
The Scrutiny Officer commented that the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Panel had 
indicated that they had requested Mental Health during Covid-19 to be an item at the 
January meeting in the New Year.  They wanted the item to be in two parts, adult’s 
mental health and young people’s in schools mental health.  The other item 
suggested had been an update on the progress of the CCGs merger. 
 
The Chair wished all Members and Health Partners a happy and safe Christmas.   
 

Page 16



 

1 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON COUNCIL 

HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL - 14 JANUARY 2021 

MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES - COVID 19 AND THE RESPONSE 

 

SYSTEM CHALLENGES 

It was understood early in the first lockdown in March 2020 that the provision of 
mental health services across the Black Country, including Wolverhampton, would 
be significantly impacted by the effecters of the COVID 19 pandemic. Anticipated 
challenges included the following: 

• Changes to current patterns of service including the ability to provide face to face 
therapeutic contact. 

• Reductions in capacity in both in-patient and community services as a result of 
increased levels of staff absence, reduced inpatient occupancy and the need to 
close services to admission due to COVID isolation measures. 

• Potential increase in demand due to exacerbation of existing mental health (MH) 
conditions particular to COVID 19 conditions e.g. anxiety, depression and 
obsessive-compulsive disorders. 

• Breakdown in previous usual patterns of working for system partners e.g. almost 
exclusive working from home for most non-essential clinical staff e.g. cancellation 
of face to face meetings and forums, dislocation to working relationships across 
organisations. 

• The need to manage communication across the network, ensure a balance 
between keeping people informed and not stoking unnecessary fears and 
anxiety. 

• The urgent requirement to effectively deploy the significant emergency funding 
which became available. 

• In the longer term, to anticipate changing patterns of demand as a result of the 
pandemic and respond appropriately e.g. would the demographic or clinical 
presentation of need be different? 

 

SYSTEM RESPONSE 

The Black Country STP (Sustainability and Transformation Partnership) Mental 
Health team took a leadership role in co-ordinating the system wide response, and it 
was very clear from the outset that a partnership approach was vital. A number of 
groups were established in order to bring people together from across the system, 
meeting virtually using Microsoft Teams. While far from ideal, as most people get so 
much from face-to-face contact with colleagues from other organisations, it did in fact 
work really well. The key meetings were: 

 

1. COVID 19 Black Country STP Mental Health Group  

This was and still remains the main leadership group and initially met twice a week 
from April. The meeting brought together colleagues from across health 

Page 17

Agenda Item No: 7



 

2 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

commissioning and provision covering the Black Country (Wolverhampton, Dudley, 
Walsall, Sandwell/West Birmingham), local authority, social care, public health, 
police.  

The principal function was to bring people together from across the system who were 
in position to effect rapid change and focus communication within their own network, 
to respond to the changing local and national position, facilitate information sharing 
and problem solving and to decide on the most effective deployment of resources. 

The group has been very successful in bringing partner organisations together to 
share information, commission new services, respond to the rapidly changing picture 
and included, in the early weeks, the provision of PPE (personal protective 
equipment) in care homes and latterly, the co-ordination of testing and vaccination.   

The block purchasing of additional in-patient capacity to ease the pressure on acute 
MH services by providing step-up and step-down support was developed and co-
ordinated through this group.    

2. Black Country STP Voluntary Services Group 

A similar membership as the above but with the statutory providers largely replaced 
by representatives from the local STP wide voluntary services councils, third sector 
organisations, police and community safety, non-statutory care and service 
providers.  

The involvement of members from the black and minority ethnic communities in the 
Back Country was particularly important given the appreciation early in the pandemic 
of the disproportionate impact of COVID 19 on those communities. The group was 
able to focus the work of, for example the mental health community development 
workers and also led to the establishment of the BAME steering group (see below). 

The group was able to identify and problem solve issues arising in the voluntary and 
third sector and without this forum it would have been much more difficult to respond 
as effectively. Health acted as co-ordinators but colleagues in the local authority, 
particularly public health with their greater experience in working with the third 
sector, were pivotal in the success of this group. 

Given the benefit felt by all participants in this group, there was universal agreement 
to continue with it indefinitely, beyond COVID 19. 

3. Patient Flow 

The availability of MH beds of several types was identified as a key challenge from 
the beginning, this included step-down from acute, assessment and specialist older 
adult beds. The impact of the pandemic on MH proved to be well founded and over 
the course of the year several wards were closed, and hundreds of members of staff 
were unavailable due to either sickness or enforced isolation. 

In response, the STP commissioned a number of beds from non-NHS providers to 
ease the pressure on acute services. These beds were funded through emergency 
COVID 19 funding from NHS England and played a valuable part in managing 
demand on acute services.  

The patient flow meeting was constituted in order to ensure there was effective 
communication about capacity and demand between commissioners, NHS mental 
health services and the network of additional provider organisations. This meeting 
met once a week and included the Black Country Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

Page 18



 

3 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

key managers, including bed management, and representatives from Accord, Priory 
and other service providers.   

4. Planned Care Meeting  

This meeting brought together case managers and key workers to help fill the gap 
left by the cancellation of a number of individual case management meetings. This 
took a more individually focussed approach than the patient flow meeting and looked 
at individuals in a greater level of granularity, focussed on identifying crises in care 
management, problem solving and identifying the appropriate places of care. 

Led by the lead MH commissioner and case manager, this forum has proved 
extremely helpful in identifying needs for people already known to services and 
bringing key individuals together to problem solve and be pro-active in the 
management of care. 

5. Black Country Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) Steering Group: 

The disproportionately high prevalence of COVID 19 amongst members of the 
BAME community in the Back Country, exacerbated by pockets of significant 
economic and social challenge, drew attention to the need to pick this up in a 
specific work-stream. 

The Black Country Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, Equalities and Inclusion lead 
played a significant role in bringing together a wide ranging and representative group 
of people from across the health and social care community and through a number 
of task and finish groups led a piece of work to use data to identify risk and pockets 
of prevalence, co-ordinate communication across a number of communities, some of 
which for example the migrant community, have been hard to reach.  

The deployment of a number of CDWs (community development workers) across the 
Black Country has been extremely effective in supporting not only members of 
minority communities but the many staff groups working with them. 

The steering group is continuing and has proved to be an effective and valued forum 
for both resilience building in communities and in fostering better communication 
across organisations.    

 

Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

Referrals to CAMHS reduced at the start of the first lockdown (reflecting the national 
trend) and remained static for a time but from September there has been a steady 
increase in referrals to the child and adolescent mental health services Single Point 
of Access.  Referrals are then triaged to either the specialist CAMHS or to the lower-
level emotional mental health and wellbeing service which is currently being provided 
by Base 25.   

The Emotional Mental Health and Wellbeing Services have needed to be able to 
adapt to COVID-19 with a blended offer including face to face for those children and 
young people who want to or have to be seen by their workers, or via telephone or 
via digital means.  Additional resources have been provided to Kooth by the local 
authority, to provide additional online support for care leavers as part of a digital 
platform.  It has been identified that some children and young people have not all 
responded to the services moving to digital in a positive manner and have chosen 
not to access the service in this way but instead wait until the service is available 

Page 19



 

4 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

face to face.  Also, there have been some challenges for children and young people 
to access the services due to digital poverty and access to data to engage with 
services.   

However, this blended model is going to be continued going forward as it does 
support young people being able to get support in a timelier manner and reduces the 
need to attend an appointment at one specific site if this were to increase anxieties 
etc. Also, there is now a 24/7 crisis line where children, young people and adults can 
access support when in crisis.   

 

Changes in CAMHS provision since March 2020   

1. Increasing access and rolling out mental health teams in schools 

 The pilot scheme of four Mental Health Support Teams in Wolverhampton 
schools (MHSTs) will be fully operational from January 2021.  The university 
education of the Educational Mental Health Practitioners (EMHPs) was 
delayed due to COVID-19 and the ability for these staff to complete their 
clinical hours.  This has now been completed and they are ready to begin their 
roles within the teams.  The teams consist of Educational Psychologists, 
CAMHS workers and the EMHPs.  We will be looking to increase our reach of 
MHSTs following review of lessons learned during their implementation in the 
coming years and this is a commitment for identified funding going forward.  

  For 2019-2020, Wolverhampton had an access target of 34% for young 
people with diagnosable mental health conditions to have access to NHS 
funded community mental health services for children and young people 
(CYP) aged under 18.  By the end of March 2020, we had reached 33.5%.  
The number of CYP accessing services has decreased up to the end of 
September 2020 which appears to be due to human error as not enough 
fields have been completed when entering activity on to the Mental Health 
Dataset.  Our interim emotional mental health and wellbeing service are being 
funded to source a programme to support accurately uploading of the data to 
ensure we provide the correct activity to show that we are reaching our 
access targets.  Our local data demonstrates that we are undertaking the right 
level of activity; it is just not flowing to the Mental Health Dataset.  

 

2.      The continued expansion of CYP mental crisis services so that by 2023/24 
there is 100% coverage of 24/7 crisis provision for CYP which combines crisis 
assessment, brief response and intensive home treatment functions. 

There is now a 24/7 crisis line which children, young people and adults can 
access when in crisis.  Currently there is a blended model approach with 
CAMHS offering support from 8am-8pm with access to a CAMHS psychiatrist 
on call outside of these hours to support any children or young people who 
are in crisis in an acute hospital setting.  A mental health assessment can be 
arranged with an Approved Mental Health Practitioner (AMHP) at any time of 
the day as the CAMHS crisis team have an on-call rota to attend such an 
assessment.  

 

Page 20



 

5 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

3.      The expansion of community mental health services for Children and Young 
People aged 0-25 

As part of the NHS Long Term Plan there is an expectation that by 2024, we 
will have a comprehensive Black Country and West Birmingham STP (0 to 25) 
offer that ensures that CYP up to age 25 can access the right support to meet 
their cognitive needs with a focus on the most vulnerable and most likely to be 
impacted by health inequalities such as CYP with protected characteristics or 
those known to Children’s Social Care.  This work will be undertaken as part 
of the Community transformation within the Black Country Healthcare NHS 
Trust with support from the commissioners.  A new emotional mental health 
and wellbeing service will be in place in April 2021 and it has identified 
support to be available for both children and young people with SEND and 
care leavers up to the age of 25.  

 

4.      Eating Disorders Services 

Since COVID-19 there has been a doubling of the number of referrals into the 
Eating Disorders service with continued difficulty to reach the trajectory set by 
NHSE/I due to patient choice and late presentation.  It has been agreed for 
winter pressures funding to be allocated to the service to support the increase 
in referrals being received and ensure that trajectories are reached. This will 
ensure that young people are seen within an appropriate timescale and avoid 
hospital admissions by supporting community interventions.    

 

5.     Proposals for people with learning disabilities and/or autism align with their 
plans for mental health, special educational needs and disability (SEND), 
children and young people’s services and health and justice 

The risk of admission registers for Children and young people with diagnoses 
of ASD and/or Learning Disabilities who are at risk of admission to tier 4 or to 
the criminal justice system have become embedded within the city and have 
supported keeping young people out of tier 4 or the criminal justice system by 
commissioning on an ad hoc basis as necessary.  The risk of admission 
register meeting moved to a digital platform with meetings taking place online 
monthly.  The system has worked tirelessly together to work effectively and 
ensure discharges and transitions are smooth and appropriately support the 
young people and their families/carers either within their own homes or in 
appropriate placements which meet their needs.  

It had been identified that demands for ASD diagnostics has been increasing 
over time with no recognised additional capacity in the system.  During 
COVID-19, panels have been taking place virtually which has increased the 
number of CYP who have been receiving outcomes or diagnoses.  Additional 
admin support has been put into the over 5s diagnostic service to support the 
recording and gathering of data so that we are all aware of where children and 
young people sit on the pathway and awareness of outstanding issues 
required to complete the diagnosis.  It ensures that the over-5s pathway is in 
a similar position to the under-5s pathway where they have been able to ‘tell 
the story’ of each child for some time.   

Page 21



 

6 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

CHANGES IN ADULT MENTAL HEALTH PROVISION - BLACK COUTRY 
HEALTHCARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

Services have continued to be delivered throughout the pandemic but have had to 
adapt e.g., using new technology, but treatment decisions are always made on 
clinical need with face-to-face contact continuing when required. Key initiatives have 
included: 

 24/7 crisis line to support or prevent people from going into crisis. We are now 
developing a sustainable model with the voluntary sector (Rethink) 

 New ways of working by delivering clinical care by using a blended approach 
of telephone/video and face to face consultations. One of the key lessons 
here that telephone and video consultations work well with patients who are 
fully engaged. 

 Reconfigured the inpatient wards to enable robust management of COVID 19. 
(Red and Green Zones on our wards and COVID 19 admission ward to cohort 
patients initially before moving patients once lab test results are confirmed as 
negative). 

 Agreed arrangements for rapid COVID testing with our 4 local acute Trusts to 
enable and support flow of patients. 

 Agreed with the CCG the extra commissioning of local beds at Lakeside View   

 Introduced and implemented a robust gateway process to prevent 
unnecessarily admissions to ensure we have capacity for appropriate 
admissions.  

 Enhanced links with primary care and PCNs e.g. IAPT working with practices. 
Building on this further through community transformation programme.  

 COVID management measures include adherence to PPE and robust 
monitoring of breeches, robust Outbreak Management meeting and fact 
finding through Track and Trace, raised IPC standards through Education and 
consistent communication to help reduce the likelihood of spread, risk 
assessments of all staff and in particular those most at risk and those from a 
BAME background, Lateral Flow testing to front line staff was completed.  

 Played a key role in the STP Vaccination programme and to date have started 
the first stage of vaccinations and at this point have vaccinated over half of 
the workforce.  

 Robust links with LA colleagues to ensure delayed discharges were kept to a 
minimum.  

 Robust governance processes in place to consider and monitor any changes 
to the way we work. 

 Visiting: in the absence of face to face visiting, we have ensured all individuals 
in hospital have access to iPads to communicate regularly with family and 
friends. 

The Trust has also focussed significantly on improving health and wellbeing 
arrangements for staff during the pandemic, for example: 

 Staff ‘Safe Space’ Rooms have been set up at the main hospital sites for 
those staff that may become upset or stressed and need to briefly take 
themselves somewhere calm and private.   

 Access to free offers and discounts that have been offered to NHS Staff by 
companies and services. They have also been sent out freebies sent over by 
these companies such as drinks, snacks, toiletries, wash bags etc. 

Page 22



 

7 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 Staff Self Isolating Wellbeing Calls – Staff that are isolating have been given 
calls that have included checking on wellbeing. 

 Videos/Zoom Sessions – Videos for staff uploaded onto Staff Space for Yoga 
and Exercise Sessions for staff to do at their own time and pace. Zoom 
sessions also ran on Coping with Isolation and Stress & Resilience. Yoga and 
Tai Chi session delivered to staff. 

 Fit4theFight Online Exercise Platform – Free online exercise platform 
available for staff to access to use in their own time and benefit from videos 
and content on Yoga & Pilates, Family Fun, Low Impact: Aerobic & 
Bodyweight, High Impact: Aerobic.  

 ‘Schwartz Rounds’ – Provides an opportunity for staff/teams to discuss 
emotional and psychological side to their work and scenarios they may have 
faced.  

 Wellbeing Guide –provides information to staff on a range of topics that may 
have impacted on them during the pandemic.  

 Managers’ Health and Wellbeing Checklist advising managers for supporting 
staff – Simple to use and follow, a checklist for managers to use as a 
reference to give basic advice on supporting wellbeing of themselves and staff 
during Pandemic. 

 Bereavement Guides for Staff reference  

 Domestic Abuse Guide – Information for staff to follow for themselves, 
patients or someone they know to help identify domestic abuse and clearly 
signpost to the best areas for support. 

 SilverCloud – Online Cognitive Behavioural Therapy app made available for 
all staff to access for free, as well as the Trust signing up for staff to use other 
apps for free at the moment such as Sleepio, Unmind and Headspace. 

 NHS Wellbeing Support Service – The Trust supported the program in making 
confidential support available from trained professionals as a free service for 
NHS Staff covering coaching, bereavement care, mental health and financial 
help. 

Overall, the Trust is coping well with the challenges presented by the pandemic: 

 From an early stage in the pandemic, the Trust extended its mental health 
staff support offer to colleagues in partner acute Trusts, nursing homes, social 
care and PH (this is continued, and we’ve been fortunate to secure additional 
funding for this going forward) 

 Our growing role in supporting services users to gain employment  

 Continued to reduce LD admissions and discharge patients  

 The Trust worked on modelling for future demand for MH services in 
partnership with academia, PH colleagues and neighbouring trusts 

 Trust has coped well with Covid related pressures in achieving NHS Long 
Term Plan commitments - current position is that despite all the pressures on 
services and the temporary closures, only one acute inpatient is placed 
outside of the BC and this is testimony to the close working between partners.  

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

8 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

LOOKING FORWARD 

The Covid-19 pandemic has created economic, health and social uncertainty and 
insecurity, and the absolute impact on mental health needs across the Black 
Country, and the related need for services, is as yet unknown.  

The Centre for Mental Health has predicted in England, that up to 10 million people 
(almost 20% of the population) will need either new or additional mental health 
support as a direct consequence of the crisis, and that 1.5 million of those will be 
children and young people under the age of 18. It is anticipated that this early 
demand modelling will require adjustment upwards to account for impact on BAME 
communities and those with learning disabilities.     

This increase is likely to manifest as a result of a number of factors.  

Covid-suppressed – People who were known to services but who paused their 
engagement with services. Once they return to services their mental health may be 
changed from their pre-Covid state. 

Covid-generated – People who are not currently known to services, whose 
experience of Covid both direct and indirect (e.g., through bereavement, isolation, 
withdrawal of education, unemployment, NHS workers) has caused them to develop 
a degree of mental illness.  

Covid-altered interventions – People who have remained in contact with services, 
but have received a change in intervention (e.g., increased telephone / virtual 
contact), for some this may result in a change in their mental health.  

This report was compiled by STP mental health commission managers and 
service provider colleagues from Black Country Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust. 

5 January 2021  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

9 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Additional Funding to Support Mental Health Services 

 

Phase 1 

 

Service  Provider Description of what funds will 
be used for 

 Amount  

    COVID Project Management 65,224 

CYP   A consultant to support on STP 
footprint particular focus on 
CYP Olivia Horgan - Children 
and Young People Consultant 
position with learning 
disabilities 

18,480 

Adults Empowering U Empowering U 160,200 

Adults Select 
Healthcare 

Emergency Beds 22,546 

Adults Silvercloud Phone App 71,582 

Adults VCS   35,000 

Adults RETHINK Extending Stepdown and 
Phone Help 

37,364 

Adults S12 Phone App 71,520 

Adults SCHAPPIT LTD Phone App 4,050 

Adults CYGNET Step up step down 160,293 

Adults Restful Homes Castlehill Specialist Care 
Centre 

239,200 

Adults ACCORD Victoria Court x 4 winter 
pressure beds 

53,871 

Adults ACCORD 2 Rehab beds @ Victoria 
converted to COVID-19 beds 

1,121 

Adults ACCORD Accord - 2 Rehab beds @ 
Victoria converted to COVID-
19 beds 

18,635 

Adults ACCORD Additional block bed at 
Victoria- private converted to 
CCG bed 

12,650 

Adults ACCORD COVID-19 bed at Lonsdale 10,681 

Adults ACCORD COVID-19 bed at Lonsdale 16,713 

Adults ACCORD COVID-19 bed at Lonsdale 7,917 

Adults Northern 
HealthCare 

Beds 158,950 

  Total Funding  1,165,997 

 

 

Page 25



 

10 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Phase 2 

 

Service  Provider Description of what funds will be 
used for 

 Amount  

Adults  PRIORY 
GROUP 

Secure additional Acute bed 
capacity across the black country 

288,500 

CYP BCHFT Engagement of urgent 
assessment clients 

116,750 

CAMHS  BCHFT Increase team’s capacity to 
manage increase acuity and surge 
of clients to the services 

116,750 

  Total Funding  522,000 

 

 

Winter Pressures & Discharge Support 

 

Service Provider Description of what funds will 
be used for 

Total Amount  

Adults ACCORD Additional Bed Capacity 
Accord - Lonsdale House & 
Victoria Court -  - Crisis/Step 
up/down   
5 beds:  
2 Crisis 
4 Step down/up 

75,400 

Adults PRIORY 
GROUP 

Additional Bed Capacity - Acute 
beds within Priory Lakeside - 2 
Beds. 
Currently have 8 beds via CCG 
which will reduce to 6 from 1st 
Feb. These 2 additional beds 
would be to retain the 8 beds at 
Priory Lakeside to assist with 
bed capacity and OoAPs from 
1st Feb to 31st March (59 days)  

88,500 

Adults  BCHFT Additional resource/capacity 
into Sandwell & Wolverhampton 
CRHT services to prevent 
escalation/step up 

240,497 

Adults   VCS Voluntary Sector partners to 
wrap around and support Crisis 
& Home Treatment teams  

26,880 

Page 26



 

11 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Service Provider Description of what funds will 
be used for 

Total Amount  

Adults/Older 
Adults 

 VCS Crisis Café/Sanctuary Hub 
rollout across 3 boroughs 
Sandwell, Wolverhampton & 
Dudley - Jan- Mar 21 -pre crisis 
Alternatives funding award. 
£50k per café 

133,330 

Adults/Older 
Adults 

 VCS/LA Post discharge support 
packages: 
Support from Voluntary 
sector/LA - in relation to 
outreach, financial help, 
benefits, employment support   
one off care packages- 
loneliness & friendship support, 
therapies at home etc. 
In reach/outreach 
Housing/homeless link workers 

120,000 

CAMHS   VCS Voluntary Sector partner (to be 
finalised) to wrap around and 
support CAMHS SPA to release 
core CAMHS workforce to work 
on urgent cases.  Further 
conversations with third sector 
taking place to deliver this 
across all 4 geographical areas 
of the BC 

123,720 

CAMHS   BCHFT Additional resource into CAMHS  
Core services (agency) to 
prevent escalation/step up 
This is in addition to the current 
Winter scheme  

149,448 

CAMHS   BCHFT Additional resource into CAMHS 
Crisis/ICAMHS to prevent 
escalation/step up into inpatient 
beds. 
To support acute hospital PAU 
with ensuring that all agencies 
are engaged in a timely manner 
and C&YP are not left waiting in 
acute hospital beds. 

74,725 

 LD/Autism TBA   Increase current provision with 
Empowering u - to be further 
scoped 

19,200 

Page 27



 

12 
 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Service Provider Description of what funds will 
be used for 

Total Amount  

 LD/Autism  TBA Specialist LD/Autism skills to 
wrap around MHLS in acute 
trusts and at home if necessary - 
though the provision of 1:1 
dedicated support for TCP 
young people / adults in Beds 
and on wards. Provider - Secure 
Health 

13,125 

 LD/Autism 
& CYP 

 BCHFT Backfill MHLS capacity in 
relation to CTR's in ED.  
Band 6 cover for weekdays 4pm-
12am 
Weekends 10am-6pm 
 
Additional Acute Liaison 
capacity (Dudley Group) to 
support TCP young people and 
adults through ED and on the 
wards in partnership with MHLS 
 
(£20,000 MHLS, £15,000 Acute 
Liaison) 

35,000 

    Multi Agency Discharge Event 
(MADE) to be held - as per the 
guidance in Jan, Feb & March 
2021 

  

  Total Funding Available  1,269,360 

 

Page 28


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	7 Mental Health Services and the Covid-19 Response

